DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF FULTON COUNTY SPECIAL CALL MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, JANUARY 14, 2022 AT 10:00 A.M. HELD VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE

MINUTES

Present were the following Members of the Authority:

Mr. Michel M. Turpeau – Chairman

Mr. Brandon Beach – Vice Chairman

Mr. Kyle Lamont – Secretary

Mayor Mike Bodker – Treasurer

Mr. Tom Tidwell – Board Member

Ms. Erica Long – Board Member

Dr. Mike Looney – Board Member

Ms. Pinky Cole – Board Member

Ms. Jo Anna Potts – Board Member

Also present were Ms. Sarah-Elizabeth Langford, Interim Executive Director of the Authority, Ms. Sandra Z. Zayac, Ms. Lauren W. Daniels and Ms. Eunice Lim, attorneys for the Authority, and Ms. Doris Coleman and Ms. Sabrina Kirkland, staff of the Authority.

Mr. Lamont gave the invocation and Mayor Bodker called the meeting to order.

<u>RECOGNITION OF VISITORS</u>: Also present were Commissioner Hausmann, Ms. Jenn Thomas of Commissioner Morris' office, Mr. Tad Leithead of Leithead Consulting, LLC, Ms. Maya Clark of Mueller Water Products, and Ms. Erin Schilling of the Atlanta Business Chronicle.

<u>COVID-19 UPDATE</u>, <u>GROUND RULES AND PUBLIC COMMENT</u>: Mayor Bodker explained the Authority would continue to temporarily hold its monthly Board meetings via Zoom videoconference and teleconference in accordance with the Open Meetings Act (O.C.G.A. Section 50-14-1 (g)) in light of the COVID-19 pandemic and the emergency declaration by Governor Brian Kemp.

Mayor Bodker explained the ground rules for participating in the Zoom videoconference and teleconference meeting and announced that the Board would accept public comments in advance of Authority meetings via email. Mayor Bodker announced that all such comments should be sent to Doris.Coleman@fultoncountyga.gov before 10:00 a.m. on the date of the applicable meeting in order for the comments to be included in the official minutes of the Authority.

Mayor Bodker further announced that any guests that would like to be recognized as being present for the Regular Meeting should also send an email to Doris.Coleman@fultoncountyga.gov so that their attendance may be formally documented in the minutes. Mayor Bodker invited the public to visit the homepage of the DAFC website at www.developfultoncounty.com for the most up-to-date information regarding DAFC meetings.

<u>APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA</u>: Upon a motion made by Dr. Looney, which was seconded by Ms. Long, the Authority unanimously approved the agenda as presented.

<u>PUBLIC COMMENTS:</u> Chairman Turpeau announced that the Authority's staff had received no public comments in advance of this Special Call Meeting.

OLD BUSINESS:

Supplemental Bond Resolution for Georgia Tech Athletic Association ("GTAA"). Ms. Caryl Smith and Mr. Brendan Staley of Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP and Mr. Jim Pierce of the Georgia Tech Institute of Technology ("Georgia Tech") appeared in connection with the request for a supplemental bond resolution for the issuance of \$52,230,000 in federally taxable bonds to finance or refinance: (i) the costs of acquiring, equipping, installing, renovating and improving certain athletic and recreational facilities on the Georgia Tech campus; (ii) the costs of refunding the outstanding Series 2012A Bonds; (iii) a bank loan to GTAA which was used to finance certain television studio facilities on the Georgia Tech campus; (iv) a bank loan to GTAA which was used to finance certain golf practice facilities; (v) a loan from the Georgia Tech Foundation Inc. to GTAA which financed, in part, the Wardlaw Center and the Bill Moore Student Success Center; and (vi) the costs of issuance of the Series 2022 Bonds. Ms. Smith explained that the stated interest rates between 1.149% and 3.471% per annum with a final maturity date of October 1, 2042. More specific details are described in the Fact Sheet included as part of this item posted on the Authority's website. Upon a motion made by Mayor Bodker, which was seconded by Dr. Looney, the Authority unanimously approved the supplemental bond resolution for GTAA.

Supplemental Bond Resolution for TUFF/Atlanta Housing, LLC ("TUFF/Atlanta Housing"). Ms. Terri Finister of Murray Barnes Finister LLP and Mr. Vic Clements of TUFF/Atlanta Housing appeared in connection with the request for a supplemental bond resolution for the issuance of \$16,760,000 in federally tax-exempt bonds to refund previously issued bonds and pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2022 Bonds. Ms. Finister explained that the stated interest rate would be 5.0% per annum with a final maturity date of December 31, 2032. More specific details are described in the Fact Sheet included as part of this item posted on the Authority's website. Upon a motion by Dr. Looney, which was seconded by Vice Chairman Beach, the Authority unanimously approved the supplemental bond resolution for TUFF/Atlanta Housing.

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/APPROVAL:

Presentation of Certain Amendments to Bylaws. Mayor Bodker led the discussion by proposing amendments to the Bylaws for the Board to consider, a draft of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Mayor Bodker clarified that while he did not expect any action to be taken at this Special Call Meeting regarding the proposed amendments, the changes were important to consider for operational purposes. Mayor Bodker explained the first proposed amendment, which would clarify that in the event that neither a minimum of five affirmative votes nor a minimum of five negative votes is achieved on any action item, the action item would be automatically included on the next regularly scheduled meeting agenda for reconsideration. Mayor Bodker then explained the second proposed amendment, which would revise language in the Bylaws to reflect the current language in the Activating Resolution of the Authority, as amended, by no longer prohibiting an officer or employee of the Fulton County Board of Education or the Atlanta Board of Education from serving on the Board. The Members discussed their preliminary thoughts on these proposed amendments, including whether a waiting period should be instituted for applications that are denied and whether certain items would be better addressed as policies. The Members concluded discussion by thanking Mayor Bodker for capturing and presenting these issues and agreed to continue the discussion on such proposed amendments at the next Regular Meeting.

NEXT MEETING:

Chairman Turpeau announced that the Authority's next Regular Meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, January 25, 2022 via Zoom videoconference and teleconference. Chairman Turpeau reminded the public to visit the Authority's website at http://www.developfultoncounty.com for updates on upcoming meetings.

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Mayor Bodker and Mr. Lamont, seconded by Dr. Looney, and approved by all Members present.

| There being no further b | usiness to discuss, the m | neeting was adjourn | ed at approximately | 10:42 a.m |
|--------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-----------|
| _Kyle Lamont | | | | |
| Mr. Kyle Lamont, Secre | tary | | | |

Exhibit A

(Attached)

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF FULTON COUNTY

AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

Dated August 24, 2021 January 14, 2022

ARTICLE I-NAME AND OFFICES

1.1 The Development Authority of Fulton County (the "Authority") has been created in accordance with Georgia Law (Ga. L. 1969, page 137, O.C.G.A. Chapter 36-62-1 et seq.) (the "Act") and activated by a resolution of the Fulton County Board of Commissioners on May 16, 1973, as amended (the "Activating Resolution"). The Authority shall maintain offices in the Fulton County Administration Building or at such other location within Fulton County as may be determined by the Authority.

ARTICLE 2-MISSION

2.1 The mission of the Authority is to stimulate quality economic development in Fulton County by expanding and diversifying the tax base, creating jobs, retaining existing businesses and sustaining quality of life for residents throughout Fulton County (the "Mission").

ARTICLE 3-DIRECTORS

3.1 The directors of the Authority (each a 'Director" or 'Member" and collectively, the 'Board of Directors", the 'Board" or the 'Board Members") are appointed by the Board of Commissioners of Fulton County for terms of four (4) years unless as otherwise set forth herein and pursuant to lawful Board action. Terms shall commence on June 1 and expire on May 31 four (4) years thereafter, except as set forth herein and that a Member shall serve until his or her successor is appointed and sworn by oath as required by law. As required by the Act and the Activating Resolution, each of the Board of Commissioners shall have one appointment, which shall be submitted to the full Board of Commissioners for approval. Two additional Members shall be 'at-large" members, with one member selected and nominated by the Fulton County Board of Education for final approval by the Board of Commissioners and the other selected and nominated by the Atlanta Board of Education for final approval by the Board of Commissioners. Each such Director Member of the Authority (a) shall be a taxpayer residing in Fulton County and (b) shall not be an officer or employee of Fulton County, the Fulton County Board of

Education or the Atlanta Board of Education. A majority of the <u>Directors Members</u> shall have full authority to conduct any and all business, which the Authority is authorized by law to conduct in accordance with Section 3.5 herein.

- 3.2 Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at the Fulton County Government Center Building on the fourth Tuesday of each month at 2:00 P.M. Such meetings may be cancelled or postponed by the Chairman; provided that at least 24 hours' notice of such action is given to all Members of the Board of Directors. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman, or by a majority of the Directors. Each Director shall receive at least 24 hours' notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 3.3 Whenever these By-Laws require any notice to be given to the Board of Directors, such notice may be given by mailing the same in writing to the last known address of the Director by the close of business on the last business day preceding the date when notice is required to be given to the Directors, by email, or by a telephone call to the business or home telephone of the Director.
- 3.4 Notice of any special or postponed meeting of the Board of Directors may be waived by instrument in writing. Attendance in person or participation in any manner at any such meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice thereof and the vote of any Director approving the Minutes of any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be effective to the same extent as if such Director had been present at such meeting.
- 3.5 A majority of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum but no action shall be taken by the Board without the affirmative vote of a majority of the full membership of the Board. Any action item of the Board of Directors must receive a minimum of five affirmative votes (a majority of the full membership of the Board) in order to pass or a minimum of five negative votes in order to fail. In any situation in which there are neither a minimum of five affirmative votes nor a minimum of five negative votes, the action item will be automatically included on the next regularly scheduled meeting agenda in order for the Board to reconsider the merits of the action item.
- 3.6 All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be conducted in accordance with Roberts Rules of Order, except where expressly provided to the contrary by these By-Laws or by other resolution of the Board of Directors.
- 3.7 Any meeting of the Authority may be held by telephone or other similar means as authorized by O.C.G.A. § 50-1-5 or O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1, et seq.
- 3.8 Each Director shall act in the best interest of the Authority and in furtherance of the Mission of the Authority.

ARTICLE 4OFFICERS

- 4.1 The officers of the Authority shall consist of a Chairman, a Vice Chairman, a Secretary and a Treasurer, (each an 'Officer' and collectively, the 'Officers'), all of whom shall be Members of the Authority. In accordance with Section 4.2 hereof, each Officer shall be elected by a majority vote of the Board.
- 4.2 Beginning June 2022 and every two years thereafter, Officer elections shall take place. Such Officers shall serve for a term of two (2) years commencing with the date of election, or such other date that is approved by the Board of Directors, and thereafter until their successors are elected or as otherwise permitted by lawful action of the Board or the Authority (each, an 'Officer Term'). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that there shall be a failure to elect Officers at the applicable June meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board may, but shall not be obligated to, elect Officers at any subsequent meeting of the Board.
- 4.3 The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall have the authority to preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall have the authority to postpone regular meetings of the Board of Directors and to call special meetings of the Board of Directors, as hereinbefore provided. The Chairman shall have the authority to execute any and all documents on behalf of the Authority, including contracts and any other such documents. Except as expressly stated in Article 5 herein and in furtherance of the Mission, the Chairman shall have authority to create committees of the Authority and appoint the chairperson and Members of such committees. The Chairman shall also perform such other duties as may be delegated to the Chairman by the Board of Directors.
- 4.4 The Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors shall preside at meetings in the absence of the Chairman and shall be authorized to perform all functions of the Chairman in his absence. In the event that the Chairman shall die or resign from the Authority, the Vice Chairman shall become acting Chairman until a successor is chosen as the Chairman, in accordance with Section 4.8 below.
- 4.5 The Secretary shall be charged with keeping custody of Minutes of the meetings of the Directors and the Seal of the Authority and shall perform such other duties and shall have such other powers as may from time to time be delegated to him or her by the Board of Directors.
- 4.6 The Treasurer shall be charged with maintaining the financial records of the Authority, including its checking account and any special accounts which may be established from time to time and shall cause an annual audit of all such accounts to be presented to the Authority; provided, however, the Chairman, Vice Chairman, the Executive Director and/or CEO and the Treasurer shall be authorized to sign checks on behalf of the Authority and all checks issued on behalf of the Authority shall be signed by at least two (2) of such persons who are so designated.

- 4.7 The Directors are authorized to appoint assistants to the Officers who shall perform such duties as may be delegated to them
- 4.8 In the event the positions of Vice Chairman, Secretary, or Treasurer become vacant before the end of the applicable Officer Term, the Chairman shall immediately appoint a Director to replace such Officer until the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors at which time a successor shall be chosen by the Board for the unexpired term. If the Chairman position is vacated before the end of the applicable Officer Term, the Vice Chairman shall become acting Chairman until the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors at which time a successor shall be chosen as the Chairman to fill the unexpired Chairman's term.

ARTICLE 5-EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- 5.1 There shall be an Executive Committee of the Board of Directors composed of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary, and Treasurer. In the event that a Chairman Emeritus has been named, but is not a Director, the Chairman Emeritus shall serve as a non-voting advisor to the Executive Committee. Three (3) Members of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at meetings of the Committee and the act of the majority of the Members present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall constitute the action of the Committee.
- 5.2 The Executive Committee shall work closely with the Chairman and Executive Director and/or CEO by providing guidance in the Board's overall decision making and maintaining oversight of the Authority. The Executive Committee shall have authority to handle urgent issues that arise in between regular monthly Board meetings. All meetings and decisions of the Executive Committee must be reported to the Board at the next regular meeting and any actions taken by the Executive Committee may be overruled by simple majority vote of the full Board.
- 5.3 The Chairman shall be authorized to call meetings of the Executive Committee at any time. Notice of the meetings of the Executive Committee shall be given in the same manner as provided for notices of special meetings of the Board of Directors in accordance with Sections 3.2 and 3.3 hereof. Where exigent circumstances require, meetings may be called with less than 24 hours' notice.

ARTICLE 6SEAL

6.1 The Seal of the Authority shall be in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. In the event it is inconvenient or difficult to use such a seal at any time, the typed name of the Authority followed by the word 'SEAL', enclosed in parentheses or scroll, shall be deemed the Seal of the Authority. The Seal shall be in the custody of the Secretary or his or her assistant, and affixed by him or her to official documents of the Authority which have been executed by order of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 7-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND/OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

- 7.1 The Authority may have an Executive Director and/or Chief Executive Officer ('CEO') who may or may not be a Member of the Authority. The Executive Director and/or CEO shall be appointed by the Board of Directors for such term and for such compensation as may be determined by the Board of Directors.
- 7.2 The Executive Director and/or CEO shall, consistent with the direction of the Board, oversee the operations of the Authority's office, shall have direct day-to-day responsibility for the administrative, financial and operational affairs of the Authority, including and without limitation, business development responsibilities, supervision of administrative staff, the marketing and other business activities of the Authority and such other duties as the Board of Directors may assign from time to time. The Executive Director and/or CEO shall serve as the Authority's liaison to other similar authorities. The Executive Director and/or CEO shall report directly to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE & BUDGET

- 8.1 The Board of Directors shall adopt a line-item budget for the Authority on or before January 31 of each year. In the event that there shall be a failure to adopt a line-item budget before January 31 of any given year, such adoption may occur at any subsequent meeting of the Board.
- 8.2 Upon the adoption of a budget for the Authority for any given year, there shall be no expenditure in excess of any line-item contained in any such budget without the prior approval of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE 9- INDEMNIFICATION

9.1 The Authority shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, indemnify and save the Directors and Officers harmless against and from claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation or governmental entity arising, directly or indirectly, from

any services as a Director or Officer or any lawful work or action done on behalf of the Authority during a Director or Officer's board membership term. Nothing contained herein shall require the Authority to indemnify the Directors and Officers for any claim or liability resulting from the Directors and Officers own willful misconduct or negligence, or from any claim or liability between and among any Director and/or Officer, on the one hand, and the Authority, on the other hand. The Directors and Officers shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and participate in the investigation and defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be paid by the Directors and Officers individually unless the employment of such counsel has been authorized by the Authority.

ARTICLE 10-CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-62-5, the Authority may purchase from, sell to, borrow from, loan to, contract with, or otherwise deal with any Director or any organization or person with which any Director of the Authority is in any way interested or involved, provided that (1) any interest or involvement by such Director is disclosed in advance to the Directors of the Authority and is recorded in the minutes of the Authority; (2) any interest or involvement by such Director with a value in excess of \$200 per calendar quarter is published by the Authority one time in the legal organ in which notices of sheriffs' sales are published in each county affected by such interest, at least 30 days in advance of consummating or closing such transaction; (3) no Director having a substantial interest or involvement may be present at that portion of an Authority meeting during which discussion of any matter is conducted involving any such organization or person; and (4) no Director having a substantial interest or involvement may participate in any decision of the Authority relating to any matter involving such organization or person. A "substantial interest or involvement" means any interest or involvement which reasonably may be expected to result in a direct financial benefit to such Director as determined by the Authority, which determination shall be final and not subject to review.

ARTICLE 11-SUSPENSION AND/OR REMOVAL FOR CAUSE

11.1 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 herein and unless as otherwise precluded by applicable law, any Director may be suspended for one or more meetings and/or removed from the Board by a majority vote of the disinterested Members of the Board determining, in the good faith determination of the Board, that the Director has engaged in 'Cause." For the purpose of these By-Laws, 'Cause' shall include any of the following: (a) the Director engaging in any conflicted transaction without disclosing the transaction to the Board in accordance with Article 10 above and O.C.G.A. § 36-62-5; (b) the Director engaging in conduct in violation of applicable law governing the Authority's

business, including, without limitation, any provision of Georgia law governing development authorities (including, without limitation, the conflict of interest prohibitions set forth in O.C.G.A. §§ 36-62-5 and 45-10-3; (c) the Director engaging in conduct contrary to the Authority's best interests, including, without limitation, the Mission of the Authority and/or the lawful actions of the Authority authorized by Board action; (d) the Director violating any policies and procedures adopted by the Executive Committee; (e) the Director committing any felony or any misdemeanor involving dishonesty or moral turpitude; (f) the Director being unable to serve on the Board, either with or without reasonable accommodation, due to the Director's disability for a period of at least 180 days within any 365 day period; and/or (g) the Director's failure to exercise the Director's fiduciary duties owed to the Authority. Before any vote is taken to potentially suspend and/or remove a Director for Cause, the Board and/or any designee of the Board shall provide the involved Director with at least thirty (30) days of advance notice setting forth the grounds for Cause in reasonable detail so that the Director respond to any Cause allegations at the noticed meeting held to vote on the Director's potential suspension or removal from the Board, as applicable, understanding that only disinterested Directors may vote on such Director's potential suspension or removal. For the avoidance of doubt, the decision of whether to suspend or remove any Director for Cause shall be left to the sole discretion of the Board.

- 11.2 Upon the removal of any Director pursuant to Article 11.1, the vacant director seat shall be filled as soon as is practicable by the Board of Commissioners of Fulton County.
- 11.3 Any Officer may be removed from his or her Officer position with or without Cause by the Board, at the discretion of the Board, upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3rds) of the Members of the Board. In the event the Officer is removed from his or her Officer position pursuant to this Section 11.3, the Officer will continue to serve as a Director unless such Officer is also removed for Cause, as outlined in Sections 11.1 and 11.2 hereof. Nothing in this Section 11.3 shall be construed as permitting the removal of a Director without Cause.

ARTICLE 12- AMENDMENT AND OTHER GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.1-12.1 These By-Laws may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the Directors of the Authority by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors provided, however, that written notice of any proposed Amendment to the By-Laws must be given to each Member of the Board of Directors at least 24 hours prior to the meeting where the action is taken.

12.2 12.2 Nothing in these By-Laws shall be construed to the contrary of any provision of O.C.G.A. § 36-62-1, et seq., as amended from time to time, and in the event of a conflict, the latter shall control.

THESE BY-LAWS WERE AMENDED AND RESTATED BY THE AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF A MAJORITY OF THE DIRECTORS THIS 2414th DAY OF AUGUST JANUARY, 2021 2022.

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF FULTON COUNTY

| By: | | Michel | \mathcal{M} . |
|-----|-------------------------------|--------|-----------------|
| Tu | ripeau | | |
| | Michel M. Turpeau Chairman | | |
| By: | | | Kyle |

Kyle Lamont Secretary

Document comparison by Workshare 10.0 on Wednesday, January 12, 2022 7:32:29 PM

| Input: | | |
|---------------|---|--|
| Document 1 ID | iManage://AGGDMS/AGG/17000358/1 | |
| Description | #17000358v1 <agg> - DAFC Amended and Restated Bylaws - August 2021</agg> | |
| Document 2 ID | iManage://AGGDMS/AGG/17611499/1 | |
| Description | #17611499v1 <agg> - DAFC Amended and Restated Bylaws - January 2022</agg> | |
| Rendering set | Standard | |

| Legend: | | |
|---------------------|--|--|
| <u>Insertion</u> | | |
| Deletion | | |
| Moved from | | |
| Moved to | | |
| Style change | | |
| Format change | | |
| Moved deletion | | |
| Inserted cell | | |
| Deleted cell | | |
| Moved cell | | |
| Split/Merged cell | | |
| Padding cell | | |

| Statistics: | | |
|----------------|-------|--|
| | Count | |
| Insertions | 20 | |
| Deletions | 16 | |
| Moved from | 2 | |
| Moved to | 2 | |
| Style change | 0 | |
| Format changed | 0 | |
| Total changes | 40 | |